# THE GENERAL PHARMACEUTICAL COUNCIL (REGISTRATION AND RENEWAL FEES) RULES 2023

#### **CONTENTS**

# PART 1 GENERAL

- 1. Citation and commencement
- 2. Interpretation
- 3. Revocation

# PART 2 REGISTERED PHARMACISTS

Fees in respect of Register entries or annotation

- 4. Application for entry in Part 1 of the Register
- 5. Entry in Part 1 of the Register following grant of an application
- 6. Application for an annotation to an entry in Part 1 of the Register
- 7. Voluntary removal of an entry or an annotation from Part 1 of the Register

Fees in respect of renewal of Register entries

- 8. Renewal of an entry in Part 1 of the Register
- 9. Application to restore an entry to Part 1 of the Register
- 10. Restoring an entry to Part 1 of the Register following grant of an application
- 11. Restoring an annotation to an entry in Part 1 of the Register

# Other fees

- 12. Notices and specified certificates
- 13. Administration

# PART 3 REGISTERED PHARMACY TECHNICIANS

Fees in respect of Register entries

- 14. Application for entry in Part 2 of the Register
- 15. Entry in Part 2 of the Register following grant of an application
- 16. Voluntary removal of an entry from Part 2 of the Register

Fees in respect of renewal of Register entries

17. Renewal of an entry in Part 2 of the Register

## Fees in respect of restoration of Register entries

- 18. Application to restore an entry to Part 2 of the Register
- 19. Restoring an entry to Part 2 of the Register following grant of an application

#### Other fees

- 20. Notices and specified certificates
- 21. Administration

# PART 4 PREMISES

#### Fees in respect of Register entries or annotations

- 22. Application for entry in Part 3 of the Register
- 23. Application for entry in Part 3 of the Register following removal of previous entry
- 24. Entry in Part 3 of the Register following the grant of an application
- 25. Application for an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register
- 26. Voluntary removal of an entry or an annotation from Part 3 of the Register

#### Fees in respect of renewal of Register entries

27. Renewal of an entry in Part 3 of the Register

Fees in respect of restoration of Register entries or annotations

- 28. Application to restore an entry to Part 3 of the Register
- 29. Restoring an entry to Part 3 of the Register following grant of an application
- 30. Restoring an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register

# Other fees

31. Administration

The General Pharmaceutical Council has made these Rules in exercise of the powers conferred by articles 36(1) and 66(1) of the Pharmacy Order 2010(a).

In accordance with article 66(3) of that Order, the General Pharmaceutical Council has consulted such persons and organisations as it considered appropriate including the persons and organisations listed in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of article 36(6) and in sub-paragraphs (a) to (h) of article 66(3) of that Order(b).

## PART 1

#### **GENERAL**

#### Citation and commencement

- 1.—(1) These Rules may be cited as the General Pharmaceutical Council (Registration and Renewal Fees) Rules 2023.
  - (2) These Rules come into force on 1 April 2024.

#### Interpretation

- **2.**—(1) In these Rules—
  - "the Act" means the Medicines Act 1968(c);
  - "former registrant" has the meaning given in paragraph (2);
  - "the Order" means the Pharmacy Order 2010;
  - "Registration Rules" means the rules contained in the Schedule to the General Pharmaceutical Council (Registration Rules) Order of Council 2010(d);
  - "relevant person" has the meaning given in paragraph (3);
  - "specified certificate" means a certificate of good standing or current professional status which is issued by the Council in respect of a person and which contains the information referred to in rule 10(6)(a) to (f) of the Registration Rules.
    - (2) For the purposes of these Rules, a person is a "former registrant" if—
  - (a) the person is no longer entered in Part 1 or 2 of the Register; and
  - (b) the person's name was removed from that Part of the Register otherwise than by virtue of a direction given by the Council's Fitness to Practise Committee under article 54(2)(c) or (3)(a)(i) or (b)(iv) of the Order (consideration by the Fitness to Practise Committee); and
  - (c) the person is not, or is no longer, capable of being restored to the Register on an application for restoration pursuant to article 37(1) of the Order(e) (restoration to the Register of persons or premises removed from the Register).
    - (3) For the purposes of these Rules, a person is a "relevant person" if—
  - (a) the person's name was—
    - (i) by virtue of a direction under section 8 of the Pharmacy Act 1954(a) (direction of unfitness by Statutory Committee) removed from the register maintained under section 2(1) of that Act; or

<sup>(</sup>a) S.I. 2010/231.

<sup>(</sup>b) Article 66(3)(a) was amended by S.I. 2013/235.

<sup>(</sup>c) 1968 c. 67.

<sup>(</sup>d) These Rules are contained in the Schedule to S.I. 2010/1617.

<sup>(</sup>e) Article 37(1)(f) was amended by S.I. 2014/1887.

- (ii) by virtue of a direction under article 52 of the Pharmacists and Pharmacy Technicians Order 2007(**b**) (determination as to fitness to practise by Disciplinary Committee) removed from the register of pharmacists maintained under article 10(1) of that Order or from the register of pharmacy technicians maintained under article 21(1) of that Order; and
- (b) immediately before 27 September 2010, the person was not registered in either of the registers referred to in sub-paragraph (a)(ii); and
- (c) the person has not been entered in Part 1 or 2 of the Register.

#### Revocation

3. The General Pharmaceutical Council (Registration and Renewal Fees) Rules 2015 are revoked.

#### PART 2

#### REGISTERED PHARMACISTS

Fees in respect of register entries or annotations

# Application for entry in Part 1 of the Register

- **4.**—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for the entry of a person in Part 1 of the Register.
  - (2) Except as mentioned in paragraph (3) or (4), the fee is £114.
  - (3) Where the application is made in respect of a relevant person the fee is £461.
  - (4) Where the application is made in respect of a former registrant—
  - (a) the fee is £114 if the removal of the former registrant's entry from the Register was voluntary;
  - (b) the fee is £616 if the removal of that entry was done under or by virtue of any provision listed in paragraph (5);
  - (c) the fee is £429 in any case not within sub-paragraph (a) or (b)
    - (5) For the purposes of paragraph (4)(b) and rule 15(4)(b), the listed provisions are—
  - (a) article 37(1)(c) of the Order (fraudulent or incorrect entries);
  - (b) article 37(1)(d) of the Order (fitness to practise matters before entry or renewal of an entry);
  - (c) article 37(1)(f) of the Order (failure to comply with requirements as to indemnity arrangements); or
  - (d) article 37(1)(g) of the Order (failure to comply with continuing professional development framework or the making of a false declaration as to compliance).
    - (6) Paragraph (4)(b) does not apply to the removal of an incorrect entry for non-payment of the whole or any part of any fee required by article 20(1)(b) or (2)(b) of the Order (entitlement to entry in Part 1 or 2 of the Register).
    - (7) The whole of the fee specified in any of paragraphs (2) to (4) is payable irrespective of whether the application for registration is granted.

<sup>(</sup>a) 1954 c.61. The Act was repealed by paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Pharmacists and Pharmacy Technicians Order 2007 (S.I. 2007/289).

<sup>(</sup>b) S.I. 2007/289. The Order was revoked by paragraph 58 of Schedule 4 to the Pharmacy Order 2010 (S.I. 2010/231).

#### Entry in Part 1 of the Register following grant of an application

**5.** Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 4 is payable, the fee for making an entry in Part 1 of the Register in respect of the person to whom the application relates is £276.

#### Application for an annotation to an entry in Part 1 of the Register

- **6.**—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application to have an annotation to an entry in Part 1 of the Register in respect of a specialisation.
  - (2) Except as mentioned in paragraph (3), the fee is £61.
  - (3) The fee is £205 where—
  - (a) the application is made by a registrant or former registrant who has previously had an annotation in respect of the same specialisation, and
  - (b) that annotation was removed under rules made by virtue of article 27(1)(c) of the Order (which includes provision for rules to be made as to the circumstances in which annotations to an entry may be removed).
    - (4) The whole of the fee specified in paragraph (2) or (3), as the case may be, is payable irrespective of whether the application to have the annotation is granted.

# Voluntary removal of an entry or an annotation from Part 1 of the Register

- 7. No fee is payable in respect of an application for the voluntary removal from Part 1 of the Register of—
  - (a) an entry in that Part; or
  - (b) an annotation to an entry in that Part in respect of a specialisation.

Fees in respect of renewal of Register entries

#### Renewal of an entry in Part 1 of the Register

- **8.**—(1) The fee for renewal of an entry in Part 1 of the Register is £276.
  - (2) A person ("P") may enter into an arrangement with the Registrar to delay payment of part of the renewal fee under paragraph (1).
    - (3) Where such an arrangement is entered into—
  - (a) the renewal fee is to be paid by P in instalments by way of direct debit; but
  - (b) the outstanding balance of an amount equal to the aggregate of the renewal fee and any additional fee due under rule 14 becomes payable immediately if the Registrar gives P a notice under paragraph (4).
    - (4) The Registrar may give P a notice under this paragraph in any case where P—
  - (a) fails to make a payment which has fallen due under the arrangement referred to in paragraph (2); or
  - (b) fails to comply in any other respect with the terms and conditions referred to in rule 4(2) of the Registration Rules (payment of fees by instalments); or (c) makes an application for the voluntary removal of P's entry from Part 1 of the Register.
    - (5) Nothing in paragraphs (2) to (4) affects P's liability to pay the whole of the renewal fee and any additional fee due under rule 14.

# Application to restore an entry to Part 1 of the Register

- 9.—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for restoration of an entry to Part 1 of the Register.
  - (2) Where the application is made following the voluntary removal of an entry—
  - (a) the fee is £429 if the application is made before the end of the period of 1 month starting with the date of the voluntary removal; and
  - (b) the fee is £155 in any other case.
    - (3) The fee is £429 where the application is made following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of a provision specified in—
  - (a) article 37(1)(a) of the Order (the Registrar's refusal to renew an entry); or
  - (b) article 37(1)(b) of the Order (failure to discharge duties with regard to the registrant's entry).
    - (4) Where the application is made following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of the provision specified in article 37(1)(c) of the Order (fraudulent or incorrect entries)—
  - (a) the fee is £429 if an incorrect entry was removed because of non-payment of the whole or any part of a fee required by article 20(1)(b) or (2)(b) of the Order (entitlement to entry in Part 1 or 2 of the Register); and
  - (b) the fee is £616 in any other case.
    - (5) The fee is £616 where the application is made—
  - (a) following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of a provision specified in—
    - (i) article 37(1)(d) of the Order (fitness to practise matters before entry or renewal of an entry); or
    - (ii) article 37(1)(f) of the Order (failure to comply with requirements as to indemnity arrangements); or
    - (iii) article 37(1)(g) of the Order (failure to comply with continuing professional development framework or the making of a false declaration as to compliance); or
  - (b) following the grant by the Council's Fitness to Practise Committee of an application under article 57 of the Order (restoration of names to the Register: fitness to practise).
    - (6) The whole of the fee specified in any of paragraphs (2) to (5) is payable irrespective of whether the application for restoration of an entry is granted.

#### Restoring an entry to Part 1 of the Register following grant of an application

- 10.—(1) Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 10 is payable, the fee for restoring an entry to Part 1 of the Register in respect of the person to whom the application relates is £114.
  - (2) The whole of the restoration fee is payable irrespective of the date on which the entry is restored to Part 1 of the Register.

#### Restoring an annotation to an entry in Part 1 of the Register

- 11.—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for restoration of an annotation made to an entry in Part 1 of the Register.
  - (2) The fee is £61 if the application is made following the voluntary removal of the annotation.
  - (3) The fee is £205 if the application is made following the removal of the annotation under rules made by virtue of article 27(1)(c) of the Order (which includes provision for rules to be made as to the circumstances in which annotations to an entry may be removed).

(4) The whole of the fee specified in paragraph (2) or (3), as the case may be, is payable irrespective of whether the application for restoration of an annotation is granted.

#### Other fees

#### Notices and specified certificates

- 12.—(1) The fee for the replacement of a notice of entry in Part 1 of the Register is £16.
  - (2) The fee for issuing a specified certificate in respect of a person entered in Part 1 of the Register is £87.

#### Administration

- 13.—(1) The fee for re-processing a payment which has not been honoured by the bank or cardissuer of a person paying a fee specified in any of the preceding provisions of this Part is £22.
  - (2) The fee for processing an application for entry in Part 1 of the Register where the application has been returned to the applicant for additional information more than once is £52 and that fee is payable in addition to the fee payable under rule 4.

#### PART 3

#### REGISTERED PHARMACY TECHNICIANS

Fees in respect of register entries

#### Application for entry in Part 2 of the Register

- **14.**—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for the entry of a person in Part 2 of the Register.
  - (2) Except as mentioned in paragraph (3) or (4), the fee is £114.
  - (3) Where the application is made in respect of a relevant person, the fee is £316.
  - (4) Where the application is made in respect of a former registrant—
  - (a) the fee is £13 if the removal of the former registrant's entry from the Register was voluntary;
  - (b) the fee is £324 if the removal of that entry was done under or by virtue of any provision listed in rule 4(5);
  - (c) the fee is £217 in any case not within sub-paragraph (a) or (b).
    - (5) Paragraph (4)(b) does not apply to the removal of an incorrect entry for non-payment of the whole or any part of any fee required by article 20(1)(b) or (2)(b) of the Order (entitlement to entry in Part 1 or 2 of the Register).
    - (6) The whole of the fee specified in any of paragraphs (2) to (4) is payable irrespective of whether the application for registration is granted.

#### Entry in Part 2 of the Register following grant of an application

15. Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 15 is payable, the fee for making an entry in Part 2 of the Register in respect of the person to whom the application relates is £130.

## Voluntary removal of an entry from Part 2 of the Register

**16.** No fee is payable in respect of an application for the voluntary removal of an entry from Part 2 of the Register.

#### Renewal of an entry in Part 2 of the Register

- 17.—(1) The fee for renewal of an entry in Part 2 of the Register is £130.
  - (2) A person ("T") may enter into an arrangement with the Registrar to delay payment of part of the renewal fee under paragraph (1).
    - (3) Where such an arrangement is entered into—
  - (a) the renewal fee is to be paid by T in instalments by way of direct debit; but
  - (b) the outstanding balance of an amount equal to the aggregate of the renewal fee and any additional fee due under rule 23 becomes payable immediately if the Registrar gives T a notice under paragraph (4).
    - (4) The Registrar may give T a notice under this paragraph in any case where T—
  - (a) fails to make any payment which has fallen due under the arrangement referred to in paragraph (2); or
  - (b) fails to comply in any other respect with the terms and conditions referred to in rule 4(2) of the Registration Rules (payment of fees by instalments); or
  - (c) makes an application for the voluntary removal of T's entry from Part 2 of the Register.
    - (5) Nothing in paragraphs (2) to (4) affects T's liability to pay the whole of the renewal fee and any additional fee due under rule 23.

Fees in respect of restoration of Register entries

## Application to restore an entry to Part 2 of the Register

- **18.**—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for restoration of an entry to Part 2 of the Register.
  - (2) Where the application is made following the voluntary removal of an entry—
  - (a) the fee is £217 if the application is made before the end of the period of 1 month starting with the date of the voluntary removal; and
  - (b) the fee is £13 in any other case.
    - (3) The fee is £217 where the application is made following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of a provision specified in—
  - (a) article 37(1)(a) of the Order (the Registrar's refusal to renew an entry); or
  - (b) article 37(1)(b) of the Order (failure to discharge duties with regard to the registrant's entry).
    - (4) Where the application is made following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of the provision specified in article 37(1)(c) of the Order (fraudulent or incorrect entries)—
  - (a) the fee is £217 if an incorrect entry was removed because of non-payment of the whole or any part of a fee required by article 20(1)(b) or (2)(b) of the Order (entitlement to entry in Part 1 or 2 of the Register); and
  - (b) the fee is £324 in any other case.
    - (5) The fee is £324 where the application is made—
  - (a) following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of a provision specified in—
    - (i) article 37(1)(d) of the Order (fitness to practise matters before entry or renewal of an entry); or
    - (ii) article 37(1)(f) of the Order (failure to comply with requirements as to indemnity arrangements); or

- (iii) article 37(1)(g) of the Order (failure to comply with continuing professional development framework or the making of a false declaration as to compliance); or
- (b) following the grant by the Council's Fitness to Practise Committee of an application under article 57 of the Order (restoration of names to the Register: fitness to practise).
  - (6) The whole of the fee specified in any of paragraphs (2) to (5) is payable irrespective of whether the application for restoration of an entry is granted.

# Restoring an entry to Part 2 of the Register following grant of an application

- 19.—(1) Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 20 is payable, the fee for restoring an entry to Part 2 of the Register in respect of the person to whom the application relates is £114.
  - (2) The whole of the restoration fee is payable irrespective of the date on which the entry is restored to Part 2 of the Register.

#### Other fees

### Notices and specified certificates

- **20.**—(1) The fee for the replacement of a notice of entry in Part 2 of the Register is £16.
  - (2) The fee for issuing a specified certificate in respect of a person entered in Part 2 of the Register is £87.

#### Administration

- 21.—(1) The fee for re-processing a payment which has not been honoured by the bank or cardissuer of a person paying a fee specified in any of the preceding provisions of this Part is £22.
  - (2) The fee for processing an application for entry in Part 2 of the Register where the application has been returned to the applicant for additional information more than once is £52 and that fee is payable in addition to the fee payable under rule 15.

## PART 4

#### **PREMISES**

Fees in respect of Register entries or annotations

## Application for entry in Part 3 of the Register

- 22.—(1) Except as mentioned in rule 25, the fee in respect of an application for the entry of premises in Part 3 of the Register is £634.
  - (2) The whole of the fee specified in paragraph (1) is payable irrespective of whether the application for registration is granted.

#### Application for entry in Part 3 of the Register following removal of previous entry

- 23.—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for the entry of premises in Part 3 of the Register where—
  - (a) the previous entry in respect of the premises was removed from the Register; and
  - (b) the person making the application is the person who was carrying on the retail pharmacy business at the premises immediately before the entry was removed.

- (2) The fee is £768 where the previous entry was removed by virtue of section 74A(7) of the Act(a) (registration of premises: Great Britain) and is no longer capable of being restored to the Register on an application for restoration under section 74C of the Act (supplementary provision in respect of registration of premises: Great Britain).
- (3) The fee is £145 where the previous entry was removed by virtue of an application under section 74G of the Act (voluntary removal from the Register: Great Britain) and is no longer capable of being restored to the Register on an application for restoration pursuant to article 37(2) of the Order.
- (4) The fee is £768 where the previous entry was removed by virtue of a direction under section 80 of the Act (power to disqualify and direct removal from Register) and that direction is revoked under section 83 of the Act (revocation of disqualification).
- (5) The fee is £768 where the previous entry was removed under article 14(4)(a) of the Order (non-compliance with improvement notices) and is no longer capable of being restored to the Register on an application for restoration pursuant to article 37(2) of the Order.
- (6) Where the previous entry was removed pursuant to article 29(3)(b) of the Order (fraudulent or incorrect entries)—
- (a) the fee is £634 if an incorrect entry was removed because of non-payment of the whole or any part of a fee required by section 74B(3) of the Act (conditions for registration: Great Britain); and
- (b) the fee is £768 in any other case.
  - (7) The whole of the fee specified in any of paragraphs (2) to (6) is payable irrespective of whether the application for registration is granted.

#### Entry in Part 3 of the Register following the grant of an application

**24.** Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 24 or 25 is payable, the fee for making an entry in Part 3 of the Register in respect of the premises to which the application relates is £392.

#### Application for an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register

25. The fee in respect of an application to have an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register in respect of a specialisation is £61.

#### Voluntary removal of an entry or an annotation from Part 3 of the Register

- **26.** No fee is payable in respect of an application for the voluntary removal from Part 3 of the Register of—
  - (a) an entry in that Part; or
  - (b) an annotation to an entry in that Part in respect of a specialisation.

<sup>(</sup>a) 1968 c.67. Sections 74A to 74L were inserted by paragraph 1(1) and (8) of Schedule 4 to the Pharmacy Order 2010 (S.I. 2010/231). Further amendments to section 74C and section 74G were made by Schedule. 2 paragraph 9(a) and paragraph 13 of the Pharmacy (Responsible Pharmacists, Superintendent Pharmacists etc.) Order 2022 (S.I. 2022/849) respectively. Section 80 was amended by article 9 of The Pharmacy (Premises Standards, Information Obligations, etc.) Order 2016 (S.I. 2016/372).

# Renewal of an entry in Part 3 of the Register

- 27.—(1) The fee for renewal of an entry in Part 3 of the Register is £392 if the renewal is for a period of one year beginning with the date on which the entry would otherwise have ceased to be valid.
  - (2) If the Registrar renews an entry in Part 3 of the Register for a period exceeding one year(a), the fee for renewal of the entry is to be increased proportionately.

Fees in respect of restoration of Register entries or annotations

#### Application to restore an entry to Part 3 of the Register

- **28.**—(1) The fees specified in this rule are payable in respect of an application for restoration of an entry of premises to Part 3 of the Register.
  - (2) The fee is £146 where the application is made following the voluntary removal of an entry.
  - (3) The fee is £768 where the application is made following the removal of an entry under or by virtue of a provision specified in—
  - (a) article 37(2)(a) of the Order (failure to comply with improvement notice);
  - (b) section 74C(1) of the Act (non-renewal of an entry); or
  - (c) section 74I(1) of the Act (non-notification of change of ownership of retail pharmacy premises).
    - (4) The whole of the fee specified in paragraph (2) or (3), as the case may be, is payable irrespective of whether the application for restoration of an entry is granted.

#### Restoring an entry to Part 3 of the Register following grant of an application

- **29.**—(1) Where an application is granted in respect of which a fee specified in rule 30 is payable, the fee for restoring an entry to Part 3 of the Register in respect of the premises to which the application relates is £114.
  - (2) The whole of the restoration fee is payable irrespective of the date on which the entry is restored to Part 3 of the Register.

#### Restoring an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register

- **30.**—(1) The fee in respect of an application for restoration of an annotation to an entry in Part 3 of the Register is £61.
  - (2) The whole of the fee specified in paragraph (1) is payable irrespective of whether the application for restoration of an annotation is granted.

#### Other fees

#### Administration

31.—(1) The fee for re-processing a payment which has not been honoured by the bank or cardissuer of a person paying a fee specified in any of the preceding provisions of this Part is £22.

<sup>(</sup>a) The Registrar's power to renew an entry for a period exceeding one year is conferred by section 74A(6) of the Medicines Act 1968. See also rule 24(8) of the Rules contained in the Schedule to the General Pharmaceutical Council (Registration Rules) Order of Council 2010 (S.I. 2010/1617).

- (2) The fee for processing an application for the entry of premises in Part 3 of the Register where the application has been returned to the applicant for additional information more than once is £52 and that fee is payable in addition to the application fee payable under rule 24.
- (3) The fee for making an alteration to an entry in Part 3 of the Register to record a change of ownership of a retail pharmacy business carried on at premises entered in that Part of the Register is £ 85.

Given under the official seal of the General Pharmaceutical Council this [insert date].



Chair

Registrar

# THE GENERAL PHARMACEUTICAL COUNCIL (REGISTRATION AND RENEWAL FEES) RULES 2023

BDB Pitmans LLP Solicitors and Parliamentary Agents One Bartholomew Close, London EC1A 7BL